
 

 

Church of  Saint Columba 

1914 - 2014 

This book is dedicated to our parishioners 
and  founding members who have gone before us.  

 
 

We are committed to be a light in the heart of  the Midway. 
 

With the grace of  God we will accomplish this mission  
by serving the people through the ministries of:   
Worship, Evangelization, Community Building,  

Stewardship, Pastoral Care, Education  
Justice and Peace. 

 
 

Phương Châm 
 

Cộng Đoàn Công Giáo Đức Mẹ Đồng Công là một cộng đoàn  
Việt Nam thuộc giáo xứ Saint Columba, St. Paul.   
Cộng Đoàn Mẹ Đồng Công được thành lập nhằm: 

Quy tụ và liên kết các gia đình Công Giáo để Thờ Phượng,  
Tán Tạ, và Ngợi Khe Thiên Chúa. 

 
Sống và loan truyền Lời Chúa qua các mục vụ:  Cử hành Phụng  

Vụ và các Bí Tích của Giáo Hội, Trao dồi và sống đức tin  
Công Giáo, Chuyên chăm phục vụ mọi người qua:   

Tham gia công cuộc truyền giáo của Giáo Hội, Cổ võ  
tinh thần hiệp nhất, Cổ võ tinh thần tương thân tương ái,  

Chăm sóc các nhu cầu thiêng liêng, Bảo tồn và phát huy các  
phong hóa Việt Nam. 

 











The History of St. Columba 

parishes. The Catho-

lics of Hamline were 

a feeble fold and few; 

and living in the 

midst of a predomi-

nantly Protestant 

community, they 

were doubtful 

whether a parish 

could ever be devel-

oped in a district 

whose population, for 

the most part, was 

profoundly antago-

nistic to the Catholic 

Church.  To add to the pessimism the First World 

War had just broken out that they were filled with 

anxiety and secret fears. They knew not what the 

morrow might bring forth. At the first meeting called 

by the new Pastor only thirteen men were present. 

They started a building fund by subscribing $125 in 

cash and $600 in pledges. To use a football phrase 

“the kick-off” was very bad. But many a bad kick-off 

is followed by a brilliant victory; and so it happened 

in this case after a long period of struggling and fail-

ing, struggling and succeeding, elation and despon-

dency. 

Not daunted however, by prospective difficulties, 

and leaning on the strong arm of God, who he knew 

was on his side, the Pastor proceeded to organize the 

parish. After the Archbishop had graciously allowed 

him to name it, and had fixed the boundaries—from 

Grotto Street to Prior Avenue, and from University 

Avenue to the Railroad tracks—he began to look up a 

suitable location for the future parish plant.  Only 

two were available: one on Lexington Avenue be-

tween Lafond and Seminary; the other the present 

site. This latter comprised 13 lots 40’ X 125’; all other 

others in the block were already occupied by dwell-

ings. It was the more central of the two locations. 

Many a time since then has he deeply deplored that 

he was unable to acquire more property. For two 

years he went without any salary; and the $6,000 he 

paid for the thirteen lots was loaned to him by a 

The Story of The Church of Saint ColumbaThe par-

ish of St. Columba was established September 1st 

1914. On that day Archbishop John Ireland-

clarum ac venerabile nomen-wrote a letter to the 

Reverend Michael J. Casey, appointing him Pas-

tor of the new parish. Father Casey was then Pastor 

of St. Mary’s, Beardsley, Big Stone County, Minne-

sota, to which he had been assigned immediately 

after his ordination to the priesthood on June 12th, 

1906. He had thus eight years of pastoral experience 

before coming to the Hamline District. Evidently the 

Archbishop did not regard the new appointment as a 

sinecure, as appears from his letter which runs as 

follows: 

St. Paul, September 1, 1914 

Reverence dear Father: 

I am opening a new parish in St. Paul, in what we 

call the Hamline District. I am willing to put you 

in charge of it, remembering what you told me of 

your readiness to do hard work and be patient. 

Please close up your affairs in Beardsley next 

Sunday and come to St. Paul, where you will re-

ceive from me further instructions. 

Fr. Printon of St. Andrew’s, the nearest parish to 

Hamline, has a large house, and is glad to receive 

you as a boarder, and a helper, until such time as 

you will be able to find a place for Mass in your 

own district. 

Your successor in Beardsley will be there next 

week. 

Sincerely yours, 

   

               John Ireland 

Like the church herself the most fascinating chapter 

in the history of a parish is the one that records its 

early years. Not intending to compare small things 

with great, yet there does seem to be an analogy be-

tween the infancy of our parish and that of the 

Church. Both of them were inauspicious in their be-

ginnings. Doubtless the same is true of many new 

Founding Pastor, Rev. Michael J. Casey 



friend. The interest was five percent. 

Having thus chosen the site of the future parish 

plant after receiving the approval of the Archbishop, 

his next task was to find a place as close to it as pos-

sible for Sunday Mass. His little flock of about 100 

families were indeed sheep without a shepherd; they 

had to be gathered in and taught to congregate at 

the new center.  The first census revealed it was high 

time to start a new parish in Hamline; Catholic chil-

dren were attending Protestant Sunday-schools, and 

their parents who attend Mass were going to seven 

different churches! After the site had been chosen 

the Pastor incorporated the parish, forming a Build-

ing Committee, from which were nominated two 

Trustees. These were Carl L. Klapproth, Secre-

tary, and Louis Dunn, Treasurer. The other mem-

bers of the Building Committee were Raymond L. 

Phillips; Nicholas M. Klaers; Frank J. Har-

rington; Everett W. Knapp and John B. Ha-

ley. 

Never did a pastor have the cooperation of a more 

loyal and zealous group than these good men. They 

were at his beck and call, meeting first every week 

and later every month, to discuss with him the de-

tails of parish organization and the various prob-

lems that arose.  They did yeoman service. Their 

counsel and assistance were priceless to him and he 

has held their names in benediction ever since. Most 

of them have gone o their heavenly reward; those 

that remain deserve from us the honor due to all 

noble pioneers. 

At this juncture, Divine Providence fortunately came 

to our aid. Shortly before the parish as founded, one 

of the stores on the corner of Hamline Avenue and 

Thomas Avenue fell vacant.  Its capacity was about 

70 persons and it was owned by one of the children 

of Israel. To get possession of it called for some 

strategy.  One of the Building Committee was in-

structed to lease it for a year on the pretence that he 

was going to open a dry-goods establishment there.  

The son of Isaac exacted more than the normal 

rental—for we had to have it—and just as he had be-

gun to congratulate himself on the ‘good deal’ he 

had made, suddenly, to his amazement and disgust, 

an altar was moved in and benches were set up. Bit-

terly then did he regret his bargain; “Had I known,” 

said he, “what was in your mind I would have quad-

rupled the rent!” And every penny counted in those 

days. The first Mass was said in the store on Sunday, 

September 27, 1914. It marks the advent of the 

Catholic Church in the Methodist stronghold. 

Late in November of that year a Parish Bazaar was 

held in the store, by this time transformed into a 

little chapel. It was sponsored by the newly organ-

ized Altar and Rosary Society. This was the first So-

ciety canonically erected in the new parish. Its offi-

cers were:  Mrs. William Keefe, President; Mrs. 

William Coakley, Vice President; Mrs. Cora 

Gibbons, Secretary; and Mrs. Pat Kinney, Treas-

urer. In 1916 the Holy Name Society was organized, 

and the Boy Scouts of America Troop No 13, was 

chartered by Mark Neibel, well-known Scout Ex-

ecutive, in 1923. It is one of the oldest troops in the 

City. 

The Immaculate Conception Sodality was canoni-

cally erected in May 1916 with Miss Anne Payton 

as Prefect and Miss Mary E. McGarry as Secre-

tary. How many of them have since become wives 

and mothers; and their daughters are now members 

of the same Sodality! Thus does the glorious tradi-

tion of love for the Queen of Heaven perpetuate it-

self from generation to generation. 

The Columban Club has had many vicissitudes. It 

was first organized in 1923 under the leadership of 

Raymond Arland; he died and was succeeded by 

Raymond MacMahon. The latter got married, 

and moved out of the parish, as likewise did many 

other young men. The Club languished and dwin-

dled and finally became a Dramatic Club under 

which the title is still functioning. Some years ago 

Father Francis Hayden, the junior assistant, en-

deavored to amalgamate all the clubs and societies 

into one instrument of Catholic Action, but his plan 

failed before it could reach fruition. 

The Bazaar was a great success; it gave the people’s 

morale a tremendous fillip.  A series of card socials 

was held through the winter, some in private 

houses, others in the store, and as the parishioners 

became acquainted with one another, their enthusi-

asm grew.  A new parish always receives special 

graces.  The Pastor, Sunday after Sunday, heartened 

them to their task, often repeating the words of Our 



Interior of original church building, circa 1920 

Exterior view of original church building, circa 1920. 

Lord to His Apostles: “Fear not, little flock, for it 

hath pleased your Father to give you a kingdom.” 

With the first note of the robin in 1915 the plows and 

scrapers were busy leveling the site for the new 

church. There was a hillock of sand on Lafond, and a 

dry slough on Blair. The former was dumped into 

the later after all its black soil had been removed. 

The black dirt was then spread over the sand, thus 

forming the present lawn. While this operation was 

going on the plans for the new church were being 

drawn up by Mr. Edward Donohue, for many 

years the official architect of the Archdiocese.  Never 

robust in health, this talented architect and fine gen-

tleman died soon after our church was completed. 

The Archbishop had laid down his program for the 

young Pastor: he was to build a very cheap church; 

its cost was not to exceed $8,000; then the Rectory; 

a large school; and finally the permanent church. 

“You may make this as elegant and expensive as you 

like,” said he with a broad smile. “It looks as if I 

shall not last that long,” the pastor replied, “Some 

program!” he muttered to himself as he left the 

episcopal residence. 

The architect, Mr. Donohue, pooh-poohed the 

$8,000 church proposition. “What?  Build a miser-

able barn in that nice district and hang your heads 

in shame before the Methodists!” he cried. “Don’t do 

it. I will give you a church you need not be ashamed 

of, and at a very moderate cost, --if only the 

Archbishop will allow us to erect the type I have in 

mind.” That was the little Norman-Gothic church 

you all knew and loved so well. The style called for 

two small towers, and the architect felt certain if the 

Archbishop saw them he would veto them immedi-

ately and order them eliminated. However, the Pas-

tor, aided by the Archbishop’s Secretary, (later 

Bishop of Duluth) by a little sleight-of-hand suc-

ceeded in hiding them from him until they had been 

already erected.; and then, being the manliest of 

men, he accepted the fait acompli without demur.  

When the Pastor told him the cost would be $12,500 

instead of the $8,000 he laid down as the maxi-

mum, he said: “It is enough.” and made no further 

comment. The cost of the church itself with heating, 

plumbing and wiring, was as above; to that must be 

added $4,000 for the furniture. That artistic Nor-

man-Gothic building has served us for the first 33 

years; surely it paid for itself and was well worth the 

investment! The Superintendent of the wrecking 

crew told the Pastor it was the hardest building he 

had demolished in fifteen years; the timbers were as 

sound as the first day, he said, the foundation walls 

were like granite, and the maple floor was a hard as 

iron! 

The church was dedicated by Archbishop John Ire-

land on November 21st, 1915. This was exactly 33 

years before we would begin our present beautiful 



Church and rectory circa 1920, prior to construction of school building. 

Completed school building, circa 1923 

School building addition, April 21, 1931 

temple. Three generations make a century; therefore 

it took one generation to reach our present goal. A 

heavy debt stills hang over us and a convent still re-

mains to be build, but that must await some future 

generation. Repairs shall, however have to be made 

on the Rectory which was build three years after the 

church was dedicated. The Pastor moved into the 

rectory in October 1918. Its original cost, furniture 

and all, was $15,000, now thirty three years after-

wards it is insured for $36,000. Surely this aston-

ishing fact illustrates the change in the times a viv-

idly as Government statistical report on the high 

cost of housing. 

The first wing of the school on Blair Avenue was 

erected in 1922. Mr. John Donohue, brother of 

the deceased architect, was the contractor. It was 

also he who build the church; and if an honest con-

tractor deserves a high place in heaven, surely John 

Donohue is now “quiring with the young-eyed sera-

phim.” He had, by the way, a beautiful tenor voice 

and might have made his fortune with it had not his 

old country father (who thought all stage folk were 

on the way to perdition), sternly reprobated any 

such idea. Donohue senior was a building contractor 

and he set his young son at the age of fourteen to the 

task of learning how to lay bricks rather than to sing 

arias. 

The cost of the school was $250,000; and the archi-

tect of this as well as the rectory was Mr. John F. 

Wheeler. He was a distant relative of 

Archbishop John Ireland. After the school was 

up the Catholic population began to increase rapidly 

and in ten years time it became imperative to add 

another wing. This was done in 1931 at the height of 

the great depression; and because of the depression 

no celebration was held for the Pastor’s Silver Jubi-

lee with occurred in that year. He spent the anniver-

sary day of his ordination quietly reading under his 

favorite elm tree on the lawn. However, in October 

1939, the 25th anniversary of the parish itself, the 

people made up for this omission by giving an 

elaborate banquet at which forty priests were pre-

sent. Archbishop Murray himself sang a Pontifical 

Mass, and preached the sermon. This new wing of 

the school was erected by the McGough Brothers at 

a cost of $90,000—a very modest sum for such sub-

stantial addition—and the architect was Mr. Fred 

Slifer, since deceased. This wing faces Hamline 

Avenue, and is equipped with an elegant kindergar-

ten room and a large gymnasium. Together with the 

auditorium and the cafeteria they supply all the so-

cial needs of the parish. 



One of the earliest graduating classes of St. Columba School, 1925 

After having accomplished this noble work for God 

and county—the completion of their school—the pa-

rishioners began to rest on their laurels. To use the 

hackneyed expression, ‘they took things easy’. The 

seemed to think (or at least acted as if they thought), 

that their task was done. The school was now 

equipped with all the tools of learning; it was airy, 

and lightsome and had space for a thousand pupils. 

It became the apple of the Pastor’s eye as well as 

their own. So deep and strong is the action of the 

children for their school that the worst threat the 

Sisters can launch against an unruly child is to 

threaten him with expulsion. And all this while the 

Norman –Gothic gem was ‘fading in passionless de-

cay’; but no one thought of a new church. 

Yes, there was one: he was the Pastor. Every day he 

thought of it with intense solicitude. As the Sunday 

contributions fell off and ‘two bits’ became the stan-

dard offering, his passion for economy increased.  

He watched every expenditure as keenly as the an-

gler on the river bank watches the salmon fresh 

from the ocean showing his silvered sides as he dis-

ports himself in the pool. For over ten years he 

brought no pressure to bear upon the congregation; 

but when the Second World War broke out and 

prices leaped skywards he was forced to take action. 

The time had arrived to rouse the flock out of their 

own lethargy. In September 1945, he wrote a little 

brochure reminding them that their work was not 

yet finished. There was still a church to build. The 

program of the illustrious Archbishop who founded 

St. Columba was yet consummated. The brochure 

was headed The Awaking. That title was suggested 

by the words of Saint Paul, read on the first Sunday 

of Advent.; “Brethren: understand, for it is now the 

hour for us to rise from sleep, because now our sal-

vation is nearer than when we came to believe.” Its 

purpose was to rouse the parishioners to a sense of 

their duty. Wrapped in smug complacency they had 

persuaded themselves that they were doing very well 

indeed. The brochure, as well as a blast or two from 

the pulpit, succeeded in waking them up.  From 

then on the contributions steadily increased. Time 

was, and not so long ago, when the total revenue of 

the parish did not exceed $45,000; last year (1949) 

it reached the impressive sum of $100,000. Nobly 

did the people respond to their Pastor’s appeal; and 

they were further heartened by his announcement 

that they had now $300,000 in the treasury. This 

was the fruit of twenty years of ‘scrimping and sav-

ing’ on his part; and having reached 50% of the cost 

of the new church he felt the time was ripe to launch 

the great project. 

Not without grace misgivings and many qualms of 



St. Columba School Principals 

1922-1923  Sister Verena Hellhake 

1923-1925 Sister Dorothy Kelly 

1925-1926 Sister Bernardine McGee 

1996-1929 Sister Francis De Sales Burns 

1929-1933 Sister Sylvia Quilty 

1933-1936 Sister Norbert Donnelly 

1936-1938 Sister Raphael Lally 

1938-1942 Sister St. Lucy DeSutter 

1942-1951 Sister Aurelia Mary Mahaney 

1951-1955 Sister Marie Joseph Fenlon 

1955-1958 Sister Joseph Helene Corrigan 

1958-1961 Sister Hubert Marie Heller 

1961-1968 Sister Joseph Carmel Auth 

1968-1976 Sister Francis Mary Benz 

1976-1983 Mr. Thomas Hansen 

1983-1993 Mr. Don Blake 

1993-1994 Mr. Gene McMahon 

1994-1996 Mr.  Jim Lundholm-Eades 

1996-2002 Mrs. Cathy Pappas 

2002-2003 Mrs. Beth Benhke 

St.  Columba First Holy Communion Class of 1925 

First Grade, Room 108 Circa 1925 

spirit did the Pastor face this new and colossal 

task. He was not long past his prime and had no 

good reason to think that his flock were eager for 

a new church. Indeed, were it not for the warm 

encouragement of our Archbishop, Most Rever-

end John Gregory Murray, it is doubtful if he 

would ever have undertaken it. One would think 

the new St. Columba temple was a pet project of 

the Archbishop’s own. He sent the Pastor an en-

thusiastic message of cheer (which was read from 

the altar) on receiving a copy of the brochure of 

1945; and when the plans and blue prints were 

submitted to him he lauded them to the skies. It 

was he who sent the eight Bishops to see our 

church, and he often made it the topic conversa-

tion for his guests at the dinner table.  No one 

could be kinder and more indulgent to us than 



this dynamic and generous-hearted Archbishop. We 

pray God that he will be spared to us for many years. 

II 

On another occasion the Pastor hopes to explain the 

line of reasoning which led him to engage for archi-

tects a leading exponent of the new school of con-

temporary American architecture. This was Mr. 

Barry Byrne of Chicago. They had known each 

other for some fifteen years. Mr. Byrne himself has 

promised to contribute an article to our Dedication 

Book on contemporary church architecture in its 

relation to St. Columba’s. We  hope that not only the 

people of the parish but the clergy of the whole 

Archdiocese will read it. The new church is a distant 

departure from the traditional styles developed in 

Europe; and it will be interesting to see if it will 

‘catch on’ and supplant them altogether in the 

course of time. 

In this movement Mr. Barry Byrne has the honor of 

being one of the pioneers. He claims the new St. 

Columba Church is his masterpiece; and to judge 

him and the Pastor from every side—from the eight 

Bishops who came to visit the church, and the six 

Protestant preachers, and scores of priests, and the 

Hindoo [sic] lady lecturer from St. Catherine’s Col-

lege, (well versed in Oriental architecture), who 

came to see it some weeks ago and on her way out 

pronounced it amazing—we should say these com-

plements are well deserved. It is a unique church, 

original design, spacious in its interior, simple in its 

lines, with no pillars to obstruct the view of the altar 

(though pillars are there), equipped with radiant 

heating and the most up-to-date air conditioning.  

Unlike most large churches “with storied windows 

richly dight, filled with dim religious light”, as Mil-

ton says,” the new St. Columba is flooded with light 

even on the gloomiest days”. 

No sooner had Mr. Barry Byrne been engaged than 

complications of a very serious nature set in. It 

would take too long to describe them here: they had 

to do with the site. These complications arose both 

from our dearth of property and our dearth of 

money. If we were oil magnates we would buy the 

whole block from Hamline to Syndicate and place 

our new church in its proper setting: but being 

‘cabined, cribbed, confined’ within a small area, 

without  resources enough to enlarge it, we found 

ourselves compelled to make the best of a bad situa-

tion. A building committee was formed to solve the 

problem but they found it insolvable. It would take 

more than mere talk to come to terms with those 

who dwelt on the adjacent property.  After studying 

the site from every possible angle and drawing sev-

eral tentative sketches the architect at last hit a solu-

tion which would give the church the desired capac-

ity without encroaching upon the neighbors. That 

capacity was 1000 persons; and the way to solve the 

problem was by running the building diagonally 

through the scanty plot of ground. When that was 

decided upon by pastor and committee, the go-

ahead signal was given to the McGough Brothers. 

The contract was drawn up on a cost plus basis, the 

interest being 4%. In all the discussions on site and 

plans, Mr. M. J. McGough’s advice proved in-

valuable. It was he who first suggested that there 

should be no basement; it would run into too much 

money. With a full basement the church would cost 



Artist rendering, new St. Columba Church 

more surely gives us the benefit of this intercession? 

After all the church is dedicated to him and he 

should have a prominent place in it.  Much against 

his will the architect consented to draw the tower. 

Being a primitive structure he felt it marred the pu-

rity of his modernistic design; he prophesied ill of it; 

yet, wonderful to relate, the Round Tower has 

turned out to be one of the most attractive features 

of the entire edifice! This is an American version of 

the Irish Round Tower; it is not an exact reproduc-

tion of those the traveler sees rising from the midst 

of stone crosses, ruined cloisters and broken abbey 

walls as he journeys though the Emerald Isle. 

With the plans and specification before them the 

McGough Brothers estimated the cost of the new 

temple. They were confident it would not go beyond 

$600,000, including furniture and architect’s fees. 

These are 6% of the entire cost of the building. The 

percentage is set by the American Institute of Archi-

tects. Thus, after many and exasperating delays, the 

excavating machines appeared on the scene at last 

on November 8th, 1948. A loan of $300,000 was ne-

gotiated with the First national Bank on most favor-

able terms. The interest is 3 ½% and both principal 

and interest can be paid in weekly installments. 

There is no mortgage.   

The pews and other furniture were moved by the 

men into the auditorium and gymnasium and on 

Sunday, September 12th, 1948 the last Mass as said 

in the old church.  

Not without a pang of deep regret did the Pastor wit-

ness the annihilation of his little church. It was there 

he spent his happiest and most active years in the 

sacred ministry.  There he did his best preaching. 

There too, alas, his flock beheld his dark hair turn to 

grey and the last rays of his youth depart forever, 

1914-1948.  

As construction progressed, the ‘doubting Thomas’s’ 

who at first were inclined to look askance at the de-

sign, began to change their tune. The chorus of criti-

cism gradually changed to a chorus of praise. What 

Goldsmith said of the villager preachers applied to 

them “Those who came of scoff remained to pray”.  

The Mystic Fish of the Catacombs –for that is the 

symbolism of the church—first attracted the people’s 

curiosity, then their interest, and finally their open 

at least $750,000; that would put entirely too great 

a strain on our modest resources.  There are no 

wealthy men, nor even professional men, in St. 

Columba’s [parish]; we belong to the class whom 

God loves because He makes so many of them! 

Simplicity is the key-note of this new style of archi-

tecture. The tendency of the so-called modernistic 

architects is to strip their churches of all ornamenta-

tion, bring them down to the bare essentials. Their 

churches are as austere as the basilicas of ancient 

Rome and they strive to make up in design what 

they are wanting in decoration. To make them per-

fectly functional is their aim; and that means to have 

them adequately fulfill the purpose for which they 

are intended, namely, religious worship.  They 

would focus the eyes of the congregation upon the 

altar where their Incarnate God is hidden and on the 

stone of sacrifice whereon He is mystically immo-

lated.  However, as there is always danger of going 

from one extreme to the other, of losing sight of tra-

dition altogether, and lessening piety by eliminating 

the objects that promote it, the Pastor insisted on 

embodying an Irish Round Tower in the plan. This 

he said would combine the ancient with the modern 

and preserve the continuity of tradition.  St. 

Columba, in his boyhood played at the foot of a 

Round Tower. Would he not be pleased with this 

memorial of himself—this cell in the far west—and 





avowed admiration. This temple of ours marks a new 

mile-stone in the architectural history of the North-

west. 

On Sunday, February 19th the corner stone was laid 

by our Archbishop, Most Reverend John Gregory 

Murray. According to correct liturgical usage the 

corner-stone of a church should always be laid in the 

sanctuary wall on the Gospel side, hard by the pulpit. 

In his address after the ceremony the Archbishop 

pointed out that the cornerstone symbolizes Christ 

and therefore should be placed next to the pulpit 

where His word is preached. Doubtless he had in 

mind the words of Saint Paul in his Epistle to Ephe-

sians: “You are fellow citizens with the saints and 

the domestics of God. Built upon the foundations of 

the Apostles and prophets, Jesus Christ Himself be-

ing the chief cornerstone.” For that reason the bless-

ing of the cornerstone is an elaborate ceremony, as 

was seen by the thousands from all over the city who 

came to witness it on February 19, 1949. 

Immemorial tradition sanctions the placing of docu-

ments in the corner stone. A space is chiseled out of 

hits center, and in it we placed a copper cylinder her-

metically sealed which contains the following docu-

ments:  A brief history of the parish written in Latin 

and Irish; the names of the three Archbishops, their 

birthplace and their life dates; the names of the Pas-

tor with place of his birth and the date of his ordina-

tion; [the names] of the architect; of the contractors; 

the cost of the building.  These documents are all 

engraved on parchment, so that they should last a 

very long time. In addition to these, the corner stone 

cylinder also contains a copy of the Parish Directory 

for 1949; the list of those who subscribed to the first 

church in 1914-1915; a copy of the current St. Paul 

Dispatch and Pioneer Press; a fragment of the Ro-

man Forum and a cinder from the crater of Mount 

Vesuvius! There are also a handful of medals and 

some American coins. If the church should last a 

thousand years these things will be objects of curios-

ity to the Catholics of that day. 

The names of all the families in the parish are sealed 

in that stone, on the side of which is carved in Latin 

the following inscription: “This House of God has 

been erected for the glory of the Holy Trinity, in 

honor of the Blessed Virgin Mary, to promote the 

Laying of the Cornerstone, Archbishop John Gregory 

St. Columba Convent, circa 1963 



love of God in the hearts of Christ’s faithful people.” 

On the main doorway are inscribed the significant 

words taken from the office of the Dedication of a 

Church: “This is the House of God and the Gate to 

Heaven.” There is also a Latin inscription on the 

outside wall at the left of the main entrance, in 

honor of Saint Columba. It is thus translated: 

“A.M.D.G.--to the greater glory of God—Go, teach 

ye all nations –Matt. XXVIII. 19—Saint Columba—

most illustrious missionary—the Apostle of Scot-

land—a Wanderer for Christ.”  The first Mass and 

dedication of our present day church was held on 

Easter Sunday, April 9, 1950. 

III 

Following the death of Fr. Casey, November 6, 1958, 

and with the successive leadership of Fr. Louis 

Morin (1959-1976) St. Columba continued to grow 

and build.  1962 marked the completion of St. 

Columba Convent.  The Sisters of St. Joseph of 

Carondolet had graciously staffed the school, since 

its inception in 1922.  The plan was to build the con-

vent and lease it out to the sisters teaching at the 

school as well as any sister who may have been in 

need of living space away from her community.  At a 

cost of $305,000 the structure was a 2 story brick 

building with a full basement was completed in 

1963.  It featured a 24 seat chapel, grand hallway 

reception rooms and offices.  The first floor boasted 

a large kitchen, walk in cooler, parlor and conference 

room. The second floor featured a sleeping capacity 

for 20.  This new convent thus completed the physi-

cal plant. 

The 1960’s marked the years of Vatican Council II 

and its implementation in the parish.  Liturgical 

changes in those years called the community to a 

fuller, broader, deeper participation in worship and 

Completed campus, St. Columba Church, Rectory, School and Convent, circa 1975 



Christian community life.  The Holy Family Pro-

gram, designed to involve parents in preparing their  

children for sacramental life of the church was im-

plemented during this time. The Christian Family 

Movement was organized in the parish as well, 

stimulating families to growth in the Christian life 

through all phases of family life and experience. 

Share, an organization founded to offer senior citi-

zens hared community experience and opportunities 

for community service, began during this time. In 

the middle 1960’s our parish school reached its peak 

enrollment of 900 students. 

Under the leadership of Fr. Leonard Siebenaler 

(1974-1982), the 1970’s saw continued growth in 

nurturing leadership within the parish community 

itself. Most significantly, the mid- 1970’s marked the 

establishment of the first Parish Council of St. 

Columba. The membership of the Parish Council 

represented the major clubs and organizations of the 

community.  The work of the Council in these early 

years focused on maintaining a sizable physical plant 

and stabilizing St. Columba financially.  As lay  men 

and women were hired to serve in various ministries 

as parish staff, and as the numbers of Sisters teach-

ing in the school decreased, the Parish Council, with 

the pastor, led the parish in forging greater stability 

within the parish. 

Fr. Roger Carroll (1981-1989) and Fr. Dennis 

Evenson (1989-1992) pastured St. Columba’s flock 

through the next two decades.  The 1980’s marked 

the continued growth of parish leadership both 

within the St. Columba Community and beyond it. 

This decade saw the addition of new pre-school pro-

gram added to the school and a day care facility.  

These years also marked the beginning of the RE-

NEW program, the beginning of Scripture study 

groups, the implementation of the Rite of Christian 

Initiation for Adults (RCIA), and the Befriender 

Ministry.    Beyond the St. Columba Community, the 

parish began to participate in various pro-life activi-

ties. As a community, we were also seeking to grow 

in their own awareness of the needs of the immedi-

ate neighborhood.  Members of the community be-

gan supporting local food shelves and began the long 

relationship with the Loaves and Fishes program at 

the Dorothy Day Center.  Over the course of the 

1970’s and 80’s the school enrollment had began a 

long, slow decline. By the end of the 1980’s the en-

rollment of the school was about 250 students.  With 

the dwindling number of nuns occupying the con-

vent, the decision was made to sell convent building.  

Although saddened by the reality of the closing of 

the convent, parishioners were pleased that the 

building would be a new home to the Franciscan 

Brothers of Peace.  The convent building and its con-

tents were sold in January of 1989 for $320,000. 

The terms called for $100,000 in a cash down pay-

ment and the remainder in a Contract for Deed.  

This sizable down payment enabled St. Columba 

parish to pay off a large portion of debt and stabilize 

the parish finances.  Lead by their founder, Brother 

Michael Goworski, the old convent became home 

to this community of strongly pro-life brothers dedi-

cated to giving their lives for love of Our Lord Jesus 

Christ and His Holy Catholic Church. 

Next to lead the faithful of St. Columba parish was 

View from inside adoration chapel. 

Vietnamese May Procession with Fr. Jim Khoi and  
Fr. Tam Minh Do, circa 1998. 



Fr. Paul LaFontaine (1992-2000). The 1990’s 

were a decade of downsizing of the number of fami-

lies in the parish and in the school.  By this time, the 

school staff was comprised solely of lay men and 

women. The costs for running the school continued 

to grow and enrollment continued to decline. This 

was true not only for St. Columba School but also 

for schools across the Archdiocese, especially true of 

urban parishes and schools.  For the first time, 

Catholic schools were competing for a dwindling 

pool of candidates against tuition-free, public 

neighborhood schools, magnet 

schools, and the first Minnesota 

charter schools.  The parish, 

however, remained committed 

to keeping our small faith-fill 

school a viable option within the 

neighborhood and the parish. 

Under the leadership of Fr. La-

Fontaine, the prospect of Per-

petual Adoration at Saint 

Columba became a reality.  With Mrs. Toni 

O’Rouke serving as the first Adoration Coordina-

tor, plans were begun to transform our Mary Chapel 

into a place of Adoration, twenty four hours a day, 

seven days a week, 365 days of the year. 

In early June 1994, Fr. Victor Warkulwiz and Jim 

Keating came to visit St. Columba.  Fr. Warkulwiz 

was a well known priest who traveled around the 

country helping parishes to establish Perpetual Ado-

ration and Mr. Keating was the local representative.  

They were both impressed with the beauty of the 

church and especially with Mary’s Chapel, which 

would be perfect for adoration.  On August 14, 1994 

Fr. Warkulwiz spoke from the pulpit, laying out the 

specifics and commitments needed make Perpetual 

Adoration a reality at St. Columba.  By the following 

weekend 257 people had committed to covering 168 

weekly hours.  The adorer schedule was comprised 

of 200 St. Columba parishioners and 57 parishion-

ers from neighboring, Holy Childhood parish.  

The parishioners and the Holy Spirit had made Per-

petual Adoration a reality at St. Columba.  On Sep-

tember 11, 1994 Archbishop Harry J. Flynn presided 

over the 3:00 PM Mass, to inaugurate Perpetual 

Adoration at St. Columba. Following Mass, a proces-

sion, lead by the Archbishop, the monstrance was 

placed on the chapel altar.  Fr. Casey’s monstrance 

had been sent away to be refurbished, and so the 

initial days of adoration were accomplished using a 

borrowed monstrance from Nativity Parish. 

Our permanent monstrance was procured by Fr. Ca-

sey in Dublin Ireland at the time our present church 

was built (1949).  Its original cost was not recorded 

in parish records.  It was refurbished in 1994. Be-

cause of the size and intricacy of the design, the cost 

to refurbish it was just over $1,600.  The design of 

our monstrance is unique.  It is in the form of a 

modified Celtic cross, and the designs that decorate 

it were inspired by the famous illuminated manu-

script known as the Books of Kells.  

In the early 1990’s, there was a group of Vietnamese 

Catholic immigrants who settled in the surrounding 

neighborhood.  Since there was a difference in lan-

guage, culture, background, and difficulty with 

transportation, they gathered together as a small 

group to support each other, especially to continue 

to live their faith and keep their culture in thier new 

environment.  They came together at local parishes 

in St. Paul for Mass and stayed after Mass for more 

Newly restored interior church, 2005 



reflection and learning catechism in hopes that they 

could lay a foundation for a Catholic Vietnamese 

community in the near future.   

During Lent in 1993, some of the Vietnamese com-

munity met Fr. Mathias Nguyen Huy Chuong, 

pastor at St. Joseph Hien, a priest of the Congrega-

tion of Mary Coredemptrix, a Vietnamese parish in 

Minneapolis. They asked if he would be willing to 

travel to St. Paul to celebrate Mass for them. Under-

standing their difficulties and problems of getting to 

and from Minneapolis each week, Fr. Chuong ac-

cepted their request and came to celebrate the first 

Mass with them on Easter Sunday, 1993 in the 

chapel of The Sisters of the Good Shepherd in Shore-

view.  Shortly after that, Fr. Chuong and Vietnamese 

leadership approached Fr. LaFontaine to inquire 

about using our church to celebrate Sunday Mass.  

With Fr. Lafontaine’s permission, on Sunday Sep-

tember 26, 1993, the first Mass in Vietnamese was 

celebrated here.  From that day on, Fr. Chuong came 

and celebrated Sunday Mass with them at 4:00 pm, 

twice per month.   

On February 20, 1995, Archbishop Harry J. 

Flynn appointed Fr. Thomas Do Minh Tam as 

helper for Fr. Chuong to take care for the Vietnam-

ese group at St. Columba. Under the leadership of 

Fr. Chuong and Fr. Tam, the Vietnamese community 

grew rapidly.  In September 7, 1997, Fr. Chuong an-

nounced the Vietnamese community at St. Columba 

would become a “mission community” under St. Jo-

seph Hien in Minneapolis. 

On September 21, 1997, Fr. Jim Ngo Hoang 

Khoi, CMC became pastor of St. Joseph Hien, re-

placing for Fr. Nguyen Huy Chuong.  Since his arri-

val, Fr. Khoi paid close attention to the ministry 

needs of this mission community.  After a couple 

meetings with its leaders, he wrote their 

“Constitution and By-Laws” for the Vietnamese com-

munity and formally named them  “The Vietnamese 

Catholic Community of the Mother Coredemptrix”.  

During this time, the Vietnamese Eucharistic Youth 

Group was established and as well as a rigorous reli-

gious education and sacramental preparation pro-

gram.  Since there were no classrooms for them to 

use at St. Columba school, they met in the church 

basement, inside the church, and the friary of the 

Franciscan Brothers of Peace. 

The Vietnamese community continued to grow in 

number of households and programs to the point 

that the pastor of St. Joseph Hien could no longer 

adequately provide for this missionary community.  

By this time, Fr. Tam had already retired.  The lead-

ership of the Vietnamese community met with the 

whole parish with the proposal that they should have 

their own priest who would able to provide for full-

time ministry for the community.  With permission 

from the pastor of St. Joseph Hien, Vietnamese lead-

ership sent a letter to the Father Provincial of the 

Congregation of Mary Coredemptrix to request a 

priest to be assigned who could come to serve this 

growing community.   

On April 12, 2002, Fr. Andrew Nguyen Hong An 

(2002-2007) was sent to St. Paul to serve for the 

Vietnamese community .   Under the leadership of 

Fr. Andrew, the Vietnamese community grew in 

Church sanctuary, following restoration of paint colors and 

pew refinishing, 2005. 



numbers and strength, offering even more programs 

and services.  The community bought a house on 

nearby Lexington Avenue and turned it into a resi-

dence for the priest, parish office and meeting space.   

Through the next few years, they continued to use 

the St. Columba worship space for Sunday Mass, 

Holy Days, funerals and weddings.   

Under the leadership of the Fr. Daniel Conlin 

(2000-2004) efforts were made to revitalize the 

physical plant.  For the first time in many years a 

capital campaign was initiated to accomplish much 

needed, delayed maintenance projects.  With a goal 

met of $500,000,  he forged ahead with plans to re-

place the roof the church and school buildings, tuck 

point and clean the exterior stone of the church and 

eventually a full restoration of the interior of the 

church sanctuary and chapel.   

With a declining enrollment of 140 students, Archdi-

ocesan leadership determined that St. Columba 

School should be closed.  In June of 2004, St. 

Columba announced the closure of the school thus 

ending 82 years of traditional Catholic elementary 

education at St. Columba and neighboring families 

in the Midway. Many of the students who left St. 

Columba School attended other area Catholic 

schools. St. Columba parish continued to support the 

students through tuition assistance and Fr. Louis 

Morin Scholarship funds. 

Following the closure of the school a new, parochial 

vicar, Fr. Thomas Thakadipuram (2004 – 2007) 

was named. The challenge before this priest was to 

unite the disappointed and somewhat disillusioned 

parishioners of our parish.  Fr. Thakadipuram built 

on his knowledge of organizational psychology to 

engage the parishioners and councils in a series of 

strategic planning meetings. This proved helpful in 

developing the dialog necessary to move forward as 

a cohesive community.  Together with parish leader-

ship, he worked to develop a new parish mission 

statement. 

The Church of Saint Columba is committed 

to be a light in the heart of the Midway. 

With the grace of God, we will accomplish this 

Mission by serving the people through the  

Ministries of:  Worship, Evangelization,  

Community Building, 

Stewardship, Pastoral Care, Education,  

Justice and Peace. 

Ceremonial elevator ground breaking, March 30, 2008 with 

Fr. Hoang Nguyen, Trustees Bernice Hauer and Bernard 

Parking lot fundraising dinner at Hoa Bien Restaurant, May 2008. 



In order to continue the work of the parish and be 

able to pay off some mounting debts, it was evident 

that the school building would need to become a 

revenue producing asset.  Finding a tenant for the 

school building was just the first step.  In order for a 

public school to lease the space, the building would 

need to be ‘brought up to code’.  The most expensive 

of these requirements would be an elevator and at 

least two handicapped accessible restrooms.  

Near the end of Fr. Thakadipuram’s term, and after 

much study and consultation, it was proposed to 

Archdiocesan leadership that St. Columba should 

formally and fully incorporate the Coredemstrix 

Vietnamese Catholics into the parish.  This would 

aid both communities.  It would not only help to en-

sure the long-term viability of St. Columba’s parish, 

but also provide a more stable, permanent, faith 

community for the Vietnamese Catholics already 

worshiping here.  The coming together of these two 

communities would also help the Archdiocese to 

move forward the long-term goal of integrating di-

verse parishes and establishing them as multicul-

tural communities.  The Archbishop had just the 

priest in mind to lead this new entity; a young, ener-

getic Archdiocesan priest and native son of Saint Jo-

seph Hien Parish who would be most competent to 

minister to both the Vietnamese and the English-

Speaking parishioners.   

On June 18, 2007 a new pastor was appointed by 

Archbishop Harry Flynn to serve the families of St. 

Columba, Rev. Hoang Nguyen (2007 – present).  

Fr. Hoang, a native of Vietnam, was newly ordained 

in 2005 and had just completed his term as associate 

pastor at St. Bernard’s Church, on the north end of 

St. Paul.   

With a second charter school tenant lease in hand, as 

collateral, a loan was secured for the school building 

improvements. Fr. Hoang and parish trustees, 

Bernie Hesse and Bernice Hauer, broke ground 

on the new elevator project, March 30, 2008.  The 

$525,000 project would prove to one of the most 

expensive but necessary improvements to the school 

building.  The courtyard entry and stairs were re-

moved to make room for the new external elevator 

lobby and shaft. The solid brick construction of the 

building eighty years prior served us well.  Building 

was able to not only endure the foundational dig-

ging, but also the upgrades needed to achieve the 

goal of accessibility.  The project not only made the 

school leasable, but also provided needed access the 

lower level of the building for our own aging parish-

ioners to attend parish functions such as funeral 

luncheons, parish community, and scouting events.   

Under his energy and enthusiasm, the Vietnamese 

parishioner membership began to grow in numbers. 

It did not take long for their numbers to meet and 

exceed the number of Anglo parishioners regularly 

attending Mass at St. Columba.  In September of 

2007 The Vietnamese Catholic Community of Mary 

Coredemptrix dissolved and formally became part of 

St. Columba parish.  The families have brought a re-

newed energy and a large number of children to the 

ranks. The demographics of these new parishioner 

population reaches far beyond the 55104 zip code.  

Each Sunday more than 200 Vietnamese families 

drive from all corners of the metro area to attend 

Mass and receive religious education classes in their 

beloved Vietnamese language.   

With the aging demographics and the increased 

number of parishioners driving from outside the im-

mediate neighborhood, Fr. Hoang decided that a 

new, additional parking lot was in order.  Little did 

he know, this idea would cause such a controversy 

with the adjacent neighbors and local city officials.  

The plan called for redevelopment of the lots imme-

diately adjacent and east of the church. The land had 

a small, pass through driveway that allowed five or 

six cars to park, a dying cottonwood tree and an 

abandoned wooden play structure.  Coincidentally 

about this same time a small group of neighbors de-

cided that this piece of land co-owned with The 

Franciscan Brothers of Peace, would make a fine lo-

cation for a neighborhood community garden.  Plans 

were made to meet with the District Council to pre-

sent the plans for the parking lot, which were ap-

proved.  In the mean time, however, word had gotten 

out of St. Columba’s plans to construct a paved park-

ing l0t. Some very vocal neighbors began an organ-

ized campaign to stop the plans in favor of preserv-

ing green space and lobbying for a community gar-

den.  Fr. Hoang’s plan called for purchasing the ad-

jacent ½ city lot from the Franciscan Brothers and 

paving a parking lot from the sidewalk on Lafond to 



the alley, making room for twenty eight cars includ-

ing 4 designated, large handicapped spaces. This 

plan could have moved forward, however, it re-

quired a variance from the City of Saint Paul Plan-

ning Commission to be exempted from the city code 

of “22 foot setbacks from the sidewalk”.  St. 

Columba appeared before the City Council to plead 

their case. Fr. Hoang and fellow parishioners pre-

sented verbal testimony and handed the council a 

petition with more than 700 names of people urging 

the council to grant the variance.  The initial vote 

was tabled in order for the council to discuss the 

matter further.  Our local council representative did 

not vote in favor of St. Columba nor against them, 

rather urging the two groups to try to come to a so-

lution that was mutually agreeable.  In the weeks 

that followed and at a cost of nearly $75,000., St. 

Columba was awarded the necessary building per-

mits to construct a parking lot.  It was not the size 

that Fr. Hoang originally wanted, but it did accom-

plish the goal of providing additional parking spaces 

and more importantly, a safer and more convenient 

parking for handicapped and mobility impaired pa-

rishioners.   

In May of 2008 a fundraising dinner was held at a 

local Vietnamese Restaurant.  On that one evening, 

a total of $60,000 was raised towards the initial cost 

of the parking lot.  The parking lot construction be-

gan and was completed before the first frost in No-

vember of 2009.  In December of that same year, an 

additional fundraising dinner event was held and 

the parish community raised an additional $17,000 

to benefit the cause.  In deed, Fr. Hoang was well 

pleased with their efforts.  

With the parking lot behind him and continued 

revenue from the leased parking lot, Fr. Hoang con-

tinued on his quest to improve the physical campus. 

In the following years he saw to the resurfacing of 

the lower parking lot, a remodel of the rectory 

kitchen, pew refinishing in the church sanctuary, air 

conditioning in the adoration chapel, and updated 

energy efficient lighting the school building.   

On a glorious, warm and sunny, Sunday, September 

28, 2014, St. Columba parish celebrated its 100th 

Anniversary.  The anniversary celebration brought 

together the very best that St. Columba had to of-

fer—two native language speaking communities 

worshiping as one.  More than 750 people gathered 

for Mass lead by Archbishop John Nienstedt and Fr. 

Hoang Ngueyn and attended by former pastors and 

associate pastors:  Fr. Leonard Seibenaler, Fr. Roger 

Carroll, Fr. Dennis Evenson, Fr. Paul LaFontaine, 

and former associate pastor, Fr. Gregory Skrypek.  

The celebration continued after Mass with an out-

door dinner reception and entertainment.  In tribute 

to the founding pastor, Fr. Casey, there was tradi-

tional Irish music and in recognition of current pas-

tor, traditional Vietnamese music and dancing. 

Today  The Church of Saint Columba is a vibrant 

growing Catholic community celebrating the one-

ness and beauty of our blended heritage.  Masses are 

offered in both Vietnamese and English languages. 

The community works together drawing on the 

strengths and knowledge of the parishioners who 

have gone before them. The Anglo community cele-

brates the traditions they hold dear, such as:  Per-

petual Adoration, Choir, CCW events, Turkey Bingo, 

and youth Passion Play, and adult volleyball. The 

Vietnamese Community celebrates traditions they 

hold dear such as:     Lunar New Year Celebration, 

food preparation and sales, music, and  Youth 

Group.  We come together to worship as a larger 

community to celebrate our annual summer Fun-

Fest. Each year the festival grows larger and more 

popular in attendance and revenue. In 2014 the 

gross receipts equaled more than $100,000; repre-

senting nearly 20% of our annual parish income. 

The event features a raffle, live music and entertain-

ment, children’s games of chance, and a wonderful 

blend of traditional American food and traditional 

Vietnamese food.   

And in closing, remember that the remainder of St. 

Columba’s history has yet to be written by the gen-

erations that will follow .  And in the words of Fr. 

Hoang, “With gratitude let each one of use recollect 

on the past 100 years with a sense of pride in all 

things that have been done through our parish. 

May God, through the intercession of Our Blessed 

Virgin Mary, Saint Joseph, and Saint Columba be-

stow on us an abundance of God’s Grace.” 

 

 



Ngày 1 Tháng 9, 1914, tại vùng Midway Saint Paul, 

một sự kiện lịch sử đã xảy ra mà nó có tầm ảnh 

hưởng đến các sinh hoạt tôn giáo và văn hóa tại khu 

vực này.  Vào ngày đó, Đức Cố Tổng Giám Mục 

John Ireland viết một lá thư tới Cha Michael Casey 

để bổ nhiệm Ngài làm cha xứ của một giáo xứ sẽ 

được thành lập tại vùng Hameline, Midway.  Lá thư 

viết như sau: 

 

Kính chào cha: 
 

Tôi sẽ thiết lập một giáo xứ mới tại St. Paul, khu 

mà chúng ta gọi là địa hạt Midway.  Tôi muốn 

gởi Cha đến để coi sóc nơi đó, theo như lời đã 

nói với tôi là Cha luôn sẵn sàng để chấp nhận 

những bổ nhiệm khó khăn và cần sự kiên nhẫn. 

Xin Cha hãy thu xếp công việc tại Bearley để 

tuần sau cha tới St. Paul, và tôi sẽ cho Cha biết 

thêm chi tiết. 
 

Cha Printon, cha xứ St. Andrews ở rất gần khu 

Hamline, có một nhà xứ khá lớn, và Ngài rất vui 

mừng để đón tiếp Cha về ở chung cho đến khi 

nào Cha có thể tìm được nơi để cử hành Thánh 

Lễ trong khu vực xứ của Cha 
 

Vị linh mục thay Cha sẽ tới Beardsley vào tuần 

sau 
 

Kính Cha, 
        

 John Ireland 

 

Cha Michael Casey bấy giờ đang là cha sở giáo xứ 

St. Mary’s, thành phố 

Beardsley, Minneasota, đã 

được thụ phong linh mục 

cho Tổng Giáo Phận St. 

Paul & Minneapolis ngày 

12 tháng 6, 1906.  Ngày 

27 tháng 9, 1914, cha Mi-

chael Casey dâng Thánh 

Lễ đầu tiên nơi giáo xứ 

mới trong một cửa hiệu 

được mướn tại góc đường 

Hamline Ave. và Thomas Ave.  Trong những ngày 

đầu về nhậm xứ, cha Michael Casey đã mở một buổi 

họp đầu tiên tại giáo xứ và chỉ có 13 giáo dân tham 

dự.  Buổi họp đó đã khởi sự cho việc thiết lập một 

“quỹ xây dựng” nhằm tiến tới việc xây dựng cơ sở 

cho giáo xứ và ngày hôm đó họ đã đóng góp được 

$125 tiền mặt và $600 tiền hứa.  Ranh giới của giáo 

xứ mới được tính từ đường Grotto (phía đông) tới 

đường Prior Ave (phía tây) và từ University Ave 

(phía nam) tới đường rày xe lửa (nằm sau đường 

Pierce Butler) 
 

Lúc đó, giáo xứ mới thành lập chỉ có khoảng 100 

gia đình.  Vì số giáo dân có hạn nên mức đóng góp 

cũng không nhiều, nên trong 2 năm đầu cha Casey 

đã không nhận một đồng lương nào từ giáo xứ.  

Vào cuối năm 1914, cha Casey vay mượn của một 

người bạn $6,000 để mua lại miếng đất nằm trên 

đường Lafond Ave và Hamline Ave (hiện là khu 

vực giáo xứ) để tiến tới việc thiết lập cơ sở lâu dài 

cho giáo xứ.   
 

Liền tám năm sau đó, giáo xứ bắt đầu thiết lập và 

phát triển các chương trình mục vụ và nhất là tiến 

tới việc xây dựng cơ sở vật chất.  Đầu năm 1915, 

Đức Cố Tổng Giám Mục John Ireland gợi ý cho 

cha sở tiên khởi “giờ cha hãy xây một ngôi thánh 
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xứ trong việc điều hành và dạy bên trường học.   

Trong 10 năm sau, với sự phát triển của giáo xứ và 

theo nhu cầu của học sinh, trường học phải nới rộng 

thêm vào năm 1931.  Chi phí để nới rộng thêm cho 

phần này là $90,000  
 

Trong những năm 1940’s, giáo xứ tiếp tục phát triển 

về dân số cũng như các chương trình mục vụ.  Các 

Thánh Lễ được thêm vào các Ngày Chúa Nhật và 

được cử hành cả hai nơi: trên nhà thờ và basement 

của nhà thờ.  Vì nhu cầu mục vụ, nên giáo xứ quyết 

định tiến tới việc xây dựng ngôi nhà thờ mới.  Vào 

năm 1945, cha Casey thông báo cho giáo xứ biết về 

việc xây dựng ngôi nhà mới.  Chỉ trong vòng một 

năm, tiền dâng cúng cho giáo xứ tăng từ $45,000 lên 

tới $100,000.  Chỉ trong vòng 3 năm, giáo xứ đã để 

dành được $300,000 cho quỹ xây dựng nhà thờ mới.  

Cha Casey mời nhà kiến trúc sư Barry Byrne ở Chi-

cago để vẽ sơ đồ cho ngôi thánh đường mới theo lối 

kiến trúc đặc thù của nền văn hóa Mỹ và đồng thời 

nói lên được cuộc sống văn hóa vùng Midway.  Nhà 

thầu McGough đảm trách việc thi công và chi phí 

trọn gói cho nhà thờ mới ước tính sẽ không quá 

$600,000.  Vì vậy, giáo xứ phải mượn thêm 

$300,000 từ First National Bank cho việc xây dựng 

nhà thờ mới.  Chúa Nhật ngày 12 tháng 9, 1948 là 

Thánh Lễ cuối cùng Cha Casey cử hành trong ngôi 

thánh đường cũ.  Liền 2 năm sau đó, Thánh Lễ hằng 

đường rẻ tiền với kinh phí không được quá $8,000, 

sau đó sẽ xây nhà xứ, rồi xây trường học, và cuối 

cùng sẽ xây dựng lại ngôi Thánh Đường lớn hơn và 

có tính cách lâu dài cho giáo xứ”; thế nhưng, chi phí 

sau khi hoàn tất ngôi Thánh Đường đầu tiên lên đến 

$16,500.  Ngày 21 tháng 11, 1915 Đức Cố Tổng 

Giám Mục John Ireland đã đến để thánh hiến ngôi 

thánh đường mới của giáo xứ.  Ba năm sau, tức vào 

năm 1918, giáo xứ xây dựng hoàn thành ngôi nhà xứ 

với tổng chi phí là $15,000 và ngày cha xứ dọn vào 

ở là tháng 10, 1918.   
 

Song song với việc xây dựng cơ sở, thì giáo xứ cũng 

phát triển lên trong đời sống đạo cũng như đời sống 

tâm linh.  Hội đoàn đầu tiên được thành lập trong 

giáo xứ là Hội Mân Côi.  Hội Mân Côi được thành 

lập vào tháng 11 năm 1914.  Vào năm 1916, hội 

Thánh Danh Chúa và hội Con Cái Đức Mẹ được 

thành lập.  Vào năm 1923, Hội Columba và Đoàn 

Hướng Đạo chi hội 23 được thành lập tại giáo xứ và 

cũng là chi hội Hướng Đạo đầu tiên trong thành phố 

Saint Paul.   
 

Vào năm 1922, giáo xứ bắt đầu xây trường học để 

phục vụ con em của giáo xứ và những người dân cư 

sống trong vùng Midway.  Chi phí sau khi hoàn 

thành trường học là $250,000.  Cùng năm, các 

Soeurs dòng Thánh Giuse được gởi tới để giúp giáo 



tuần được cử hành bên trường học.  Ngày 8 tháng 

11, 1948, chiếc xe ủi đầu tiên tới phá sập ngôi nhà 

thờ cũ và  Thánh Lễ đặt viên đá đầu tiên cho ngôi 

thánh đường mới được Đức Cố Tổng Giám Mục 

John Gregory Murray cử hành vào Chúa Nhật ngày 

19 tháng 2, 1949.   Hai năm sau, vào Chúa Nhật Lễ 

Phục Sinh, ngày 9 tháng 4, 1950, Đức Cố Tổng 

Giám Mục John G. Murray đã đến dâng Thánh Lễ 

đầu tiên và thánh hiến ngôi thánh đường mới của 

giáo xứ.   
 

Sau 44 năm nhiệt tâm phục vụ giáo xứ, Cha Casey 

đã kiến tạo và xây dựng tất cả các cơ sở cũng như 

các chương trình sinh hoạt, vào ngày 6 tháng 11, 

1954, Ngài đã được Chúa gọi về.  Cha Casey ra đi để 

lại cho giáo xứ muôn vàn nhớ thương và tri ân. 
 

Cha Louis Morin (1959-1976) được bổ nhiệm làm 

cha xứ St. Columba để tiếp nối sự nghiệp hoàn thành 

xây dựng giáo xứ.   Năm 1962, cha Louis Morin đã 

khởi công xây dựng nhà cho các Soeurs Dòng Thánh 

Giuse (hiện nay là nhà của các Thầy Dòng Phanxicô) 

để các Soeurs có cơ sở phục vụ nhà dòng và giáo xứ 

cách hữu hiệu hơn.  Chi chí xây dựng cho nhà của 

các Soeurs là $305,000 và được hoàn thành vào năm 

1963.  Thời kỳ này, học sinh trường học của giáo xứ 

đã đạt tới con số cao nhất và kỷ lục là 900 em (tính 

từ lớp mẫu giáo tới lớp 8). 
 

Sau cha Louis Morin, Đức Tổng Giám Mục bổ 

nhiệm cha Leonard Siebenaler (1974-1982) làm cha 

xứ.  Dưới thời cha Siebenaler, giáo xứ bắt đầu xây 

dựng cơ cấu tổ chức của giáo xứ theo mô hình thay 

đổi của Giáo Hội Mỹ.  Vào thập niên 70, giáo xứ 

thiết lập Hội Đồng Mục Vụ (HĐMV) mà thành viên 

là các đại diện của các ban ngành và hội đoàn.  Vai 

trò của HĐMV thời bấy giờ là giúp bảo trì các cơ sở 

và giữ ổn định tài chánh cho giáo xứ.  Giáo dân cũng 

được mời và nhận vào làm trong các công việc điều 

hành giáo xứ.  Cùng thời đó, ơn gọi nữ tu cũng bắt 

đầu giảm sút và vì vậy đã mở ra một cơ hội cho giáo 

dân tham gia và hoạt động trong giáo xứ. 
 

Cha Roger Carroll (1981-1989) và cha Dennis 

Evenson (1989-1992) được bổ nhiệm tiếp theo để 

mục vụ cho giáo xứ với vai trò chánh xứ trên một 

thập niên.   Vào thập niên 1980’s, giáo xứ tiếp tục 

củng cổ và phát triển trong việc xây dựng cơ cấu tổ 

chức và hành chánh.   Giáo xứ bắt đầu áp dụng và tổ 

chức các lớp giáo lý tân tòng cho người lớn theo 

tinh thần của Công Đồng Vatican II, các lớp học hỏi 

Thánh Kinh, chương trình thăm viếng bệnh nhân, 

chương trình phục vụ người nghèo cũng được phát 

triển.  Trường học của giáo xứ cũng mở ra chương 

trình giữ trẻ.   Thập niên này bắt đầu đánh dấu sự đi 

xuống vì thiếu học sinh của các trường học công 

giáo.  Vào cuối những năm 1980’s, học sinh của 

trường học của giáo xứ chỉ còn 320 em.  Vào cuối 

năm 1989, vì thiếu ơn gọi tại nhà dòng, nên các 

Soeurs đã phải rời giáo xứ để về làm việc cho nhà 

dòng để chấp dứt 67 năm hiện diện của các Soeurs 

dòng Thánh Giuse tại giáo xứ.  Nhà của các Soeurs 

cũng đã phải bán với giá $320,000 cho các Thầy 

Dòng Phanxicô.   
 

Cha Paul LaFontaine (1992-2000) được bổ nhiệm 

làm cha xứ sau cha Evenson.  Thập niên 90’s, giáo 

dân của giáo xứ bắt đầu thu nhỏ lại và trường học 

cũng gặp khó khăn về con số học sinh ghi danh.  

Bên cạnh đó các chi tiêu và kinh phí cho trường học 

và giáo xứ ngày càng cao và vì vậy mà ảnh hưởng 

rất lớn tới tài chánh của giáo xứ.  Vào những năm 

này, các chương trình sinh hoạt và mục vụ của giáo 

xứ cũng bị giới hạn.   Mặc dầu vậy, thì dưới thời của 

cha Paul LaFontaine, có hai sự kiện nổi bật đã xảy 

ra.  Thứ nhất là việc thiết lập nhà chầu Thánh Thể 

Luân Phiên và thứ hai là mở cửa đón chào người 

Việt tị nạn tại vùng Midway. 
 

Ngày 14 tháng 8, 1994 giáo xứ khởi sự việc kêu gọi 

giáo dân tham gia giờ chầu luân phiên và thông suốt  

24/24 bên nhà nguyện Đức Mẹ.  Chỉ trong vòng 

mấy tuần đã có 257 người ghi danh tham gia 168 

tiếng các phiên chầu trong 1 tuần.  Những người 

tình nguyện ghi danh chầu được chia đều cho 24 

tiếng mỗi ngày và 168 tiếng mỗi tuần.  Vào Chúa 

Nhật ngày 11 tháng 9, 1994 lúc 3:00 chiều, Đức 

Tổng Giám Mục Harry J. Flynn đã chủ sự Thánh Lễ 

và khai mạc chương trình Chầu Thánh Thể Luân 

Phiên tại giáo xứ St. Columba.  Trải qua hơn 20 

năm, nhà chầu Thánh Thể vẫn tiếp tục mở cửa 24/24 

để cho mọi người có cơ hội tới viếng Thánh Thể 



Chúa.  Trong suốt 20 năm qua, rất nhiều người đã 

nhận được những ơn lành Chúa Thánh Thể đã ban 

qua những lần kính viếng tại nhà chầu.   
 

Cha LaFontaine cũng là cha xứ đã mở cửa để tiếp 

đón những người Việt tị nạn tới sinh hoạt với giáo 

xứ St. Columba.  Và cũng từ đây, hình thành một 

cộng đoàn Việt Nam tại giáo xứ St. Columba mà sau 

này có ảnh hưởng rất lớn tới đời sống và sinh hoạt 

của giáo xứ 
 

[lịch sử của cộng đoàn Mẹ Đồng Công]. 
 

Vào đầu thập niên 1990’s, một số 

người Công Giáo Việt Nam tị nạn 

đến định cự tại vùng St. Paul, 

Minnesota.  Vì hoàn cảnh khó 

khăn về ngôn ngữ, tập quán, và 

phương tiện di chuyển, nên họ đã 

nhóm họp lại để giúp đỡ lẫn nhau 

và nhất là để bảo tồn di sản Đức 

Tin và Văn Hóa dân tộc.  Họ đã 

tụ tập lại với nhau tại những giáo 

xứ người Mỹ để tham dự Thánh Lễ Chúa Nhật hằng 

tuần và sau Thánh Lễ tổ chức những buổi học hỏi và 

chia sẽ Lời Chúa với hy vọng đặt nền móng cho một 

họ đạo Việt Nam trong tương lai. 
 

Mùa chay năm 1993, một số anh chị em đã tới gặp 

cha Cố Mathias Nguyễn Huy Chương CMC, chánh 

xứ Giuse Hiển, để xin Ngài dâng Thánh Lễ ở một 

giáo xứ Mỹ nào đó ở vùng Midway.  Thông cảm và 

hiểu được hoàn cảnh khó khăn của họ, cha Chương 

đã nhận lời và đồng thời Ngài cũng mượn được nhà 

nguyện của các Soeurs Dòng Chúa Chiên Lành để 

cử hành Thánh Lễ Phục Sinh đầu tiên cho họ.  Sau 

đó, họ đã cùng với cha Chương đến giáo xứ 

Columba để xin cha Paul Lafontaine, chánh xứ St. 

Columba, cho mượn nhà thờ để cử hành các nghi 

thức phụng vụ và các sinh hoạt khác.  Được cha La-

fontaine chấp thuận, vào Chúa Nhật ngày 26 tháng 

9, 1993, cha Chương đã dâng Thánh Lễ đầu tiên và 

đây cũng là ngày khai sinh họ đạo.  Từ đó, dù bận 

rộn với công việc giáo xứ, cha Chương cũng đã hy 

sinh để tới dâng Thánh Lễ cho họ đạo mỗi tháng 2 

lần vào lúc 4:00 chiều.   

 

Ngày 20 tháng 2, 1995, Đức Tổng Giám Mục Harry 

Flynn bổ nhiệm cha Cố Tôma Đỗ Minh Tâm làm 

phụ tá cho cha Chương trong việc coi sóc mục vụ 

cho giáo dân Việt Nam tại giáo xứ St. Columba.  

Cha Cố Tâm là linh mục của giáo phận Vĩnh Long 

và Ngài đến từ Úc sau bị Cộng Sản trục xuất Ngài 

khỏi Việt Nam sau hơn 13 năm cầm tù.  Dưới sự 



hướng dẫn của cha Chương và cha Tâm, con số giáo 

dân trong họ đạo ngày một tăng lên: từ 25 gia đình 

tới 60 gia đình vào năm 1997.  Để hợp thức hóa cho 

việc chăm sóc mục vụ, cha Chương đã công khai 

thiết lập họ đạo tại giáo xứ St. Columba là “họ lẽ” 

của giáo xứ Thánh Giuse Hiển vào ngày 9 tháng 7, 

1997.  Trong thời gian này Nhóm Gia Đình Mân Côi 

được thành lập (tháng 10 năm 1996) và sau này 

được đổi tên thành Hội Đền Tạ. 

 

Ngày 21 tháng 9, 1997, cha Jim Ngô Hoàng Khôi, 

CMC được bổ nhiệm làm cha sở giáo xứ Thánh 

Giuse Hiển thay cha Chương.  Từ ngày về nhậm xứ, 

cha Khôi đã quan tâm rất đặc biệt tới họ đạo này và 

sau khi có buổi họp với Ban Đại Diện, các ban 

ngành đoàn thể, Ngài đã soạn thảo và ban hành bản 

nội quy của họ đạo vào Chúa Nhật Lễ Phục Sinh 

năm 1998 và đồng thời Ngài cũng đặt tên cho họ đạo 

thành Cộng Đoàn Mẹ Đồng Công trực thuộc giáo xứ 

Thánh Giuse Hiển.  Năm 1999, Đoàn Thiếu Nhi 

Thánh Thể được thành lập và Đoàn cũng chuyên lo 

về chương trình Giáo Lý Việt Ngữ cho các em.  

Trong những năm nay, vì không có phòng học, nên 

các lớp giáo lý phải học rải rác trong nhà thờ, base-

ment, và bên nhà các Thầy Dòng Phanxicô. 

 

Từ đó cộng đoàn Mẹ Đồng Công càng ngày càng 

phát triển về con số lẫn nhu cầu mục vụ.  Trong khi 

cha Cố Tâm đã về hưu vì sức khỏe và cha xứ Giuse 

Hiển lại quá bận rộn với công việc của giáo xứ nên 

không thể đáp ứng được các nhu cầu đòi hỏi của 

cộng đoàn, Ban Đại Diện đã nhiều lần họp với cộng 

đoàn và sau khi đã tham khảo ý kiến với cha xứ 

Thánh Giuse Hiển, đã gởi thư xin Dòng Đồng Công 

gởi thêm cha quản nhiệm để đặc trách coi sóc cộng 

đoàn.  Ngày 12 tháng 4, 2002, nhà Dòng đã gởi cha 

Andrew Nguyễn Hồng Ân về làm quản nhiệm cộng 

đoàn.  Thời gian ở với cộng đoàn, cha Hồng Ân đã 

tận tâm phục vụ để phát triển và thăng tiến đời sống 

của cộng đoàn.  Chương trình gói bánh chưng/tét để 

phục vụ cộng đoàn trong những ngày Tết được thực 

hiện trong thời gian này.  Cộng đoàn cũng đã tậu 

được căn nhà tại đường Lexington để làm văn phòng 

mục vụ và đồng thời cũng là nơi cha Quản Nhiệm ở. 

 

Ngày 18 tháng 6, 2007, cha Gioan Baotixita Nguyễn 

Đình Hoàng được Đức Tổng Giám Mục bổ nhiệm là 

cha sở St. Columba và kiêm nhiệm luôn Cộng Đoàn 

Mẹ Đồng Công.  Tháng 9, 2007 Tổng Giáo Phận đã 

quyết định tách rời Cộng Đoàn Mẹ Đồng Công khỏi 

giáo xứ Thánh Giuse Hiển và sát nhập vào giáo xứ 

St. Columba.  Từ đây một trang sử mới của Cộng 

Đoàn Mẹ Đồng Công được ghi thêm.  Từ nay Cộng 

Đoàn Mẹ Đồng Công không còn là một cộng đoàn 

biệt lập khỏi các sinh hoạt của giáo xứ St. Columba, 

mà là trở nên một phần quan trọng trong đời sống 

thăng tiến và phát triển của giáo xứ St. Columba.  

 

[Trở lại với lịch sử giáo xứ St. Columba] 
 

Sau nhiệm kỳ của cha Paul LaFontaine, Đức Tổng 

Giám Mục bổ nhiệm cha Daniel Conlin (2000-2004) 

làn cha sở giáo xứ.  Với nổ lực của một linh mục trẻ, 

cha Conlin muốn tu sửa lại các cơ sở của giáo xứ đã 

bắt đầu xuống cấp.  Cha Conlin đã vận động gây quỹ 

để thay mái nhà thờ, trường học, chạy đường chỉ 

gạch ngoài của các bức tường, sửa sang lại phần 

trong của nhà thờ và nhà nguyện.  Chi phí cho việc 

tu sửa này lên tới $500,000.  Vào năm 2005, nhà thờ 

và trường học đã được tu sửa xong.  Cũng trong thời 

gian này, trường học bắt đầu có dấu hiệu thiếu học 

sinh ghi danh trầm trọng.  Đến tháng 6, 2004, với 

con số học sinh ghi danh là 140 em, Tổng Giáo Phận 

buộc phải đóng cửa trường học để kết thúc một 

trường học Công Giáo đã tồn tại và phục vụ giáo xứ 

St. Columba và vùng Midway trong 82 năm qua.  

Cha Conlin cũng được thuyên chuyển trong thời 

gian này. 
 

Sau khi đóng cửa trường học, Tổng Giáo Phận bổ 

nhiệm cha Thomas Thakadipuram (2004-2007) là 

linh mục du học người Ấn Độ làm cha quản nhiệm 

giáo xứ.  Trong thời gian này, nhiều giáo dân đã rời 

giáo xứ.  Từ ngày nhậm xứ, cha Thakadipuram đã 

thảo luận với hội đồng mục vụ và với giáo dân nhiều 

lần để phát họa hướng đi mới cho giáo xứ và Ngài 

cũng đã soạn lại phương châm để thích nghi với 

hoàn cảnh mới của giáo xứ.  Bên cạnh đó, để có 

thêm ngân khoản chi tiêu cho giáo xứ và cũng để trả 



bớt nợ mà giáo xứ có, giáo xứ đã tìm người để cho 

mướn trường học.  Trong những năm qua, trường 

học của giáo đã có một vài trường của các sắc dân 

khác tới mướn, nhờ vậy mà tài chánh của giáo xứ 

cũng ổn định hơn.   
 

Vào năm cuối nhiệm kỳ, sau khi tham khảo với ban 

cố vấn của Tổng Giáo Phận và hội đồng mục vụ, cha 

Thakadipuram đề xuất việc sát nhập Cộng Đoàn Mẹ 

Đồng Công vào giáo xứ St. Columba để lập nên một 

giáo xứ đa văn hóa. Việc sát nhập này sẽ mang lại 

lợi ích lâu dài cho sự phát triển và ổn định của cả hai 

cộng đoàn: Mỹ và Việt.  Đức Tổng Giáo Mục cũng 

đã để ý đến một linh mục trẻ Việt Nam, là người con 

của Giáo Xứ Thánh Giuse Hiển, được thụ phong linh 

mục năm 2005 và hiện đang làm phó xứ St. Bernard 

và thông thạo cả hai ngôn ngữ Việt -Mỹ 
 

Ngày 18 tháng 6, 2007, Đức Tổng Giám Mục Harry 

J. Flynn đã bổ nhiệm cha Gioan Baotixiata Nguyễn 

Đình Hoàng làm cha sở St. Columba.  Việc bổ 

nhiệm này đã đưa giáo xứ St. Columba tới khúc 

quanh lịch sử.   
 

Ngày về nhận xứ cha Hoàng đã phải đối diện với 

việc tìm nhà thầu để khởi công việc xây dựng thang 

máy bên trường học; đồng thời cũng tìm nhà bank để 

mượn kinh phí cho tổng công trình này là $525,000.  

Ngày 30 tháng 3, 2008 là ngày khởi công cho một 

trong những công trình tu sửa đắt nhất trong lịch sử 

giáo xứ.  Thang máy được xây nối liền với trường 

học ở bãi đậu xe sau của trường để tạo phương tiện 

dễ dàng cho những người lớn tuổi di chuyển lúc ở 

bên trường học.  Cùng năm đó, vào tháng 5, 2008, 

dạ tiệc gây quỹ đầu tiên do cộng đoàn Việt Nam 

đứng ra tổ chức để xây dựng dự án thứ hai của giáo 

xứ: đó là nới rộng bãi đậu xe cho những người lớn 

tuổi và tàn tật kế bên hông nhà thờ.  Với dự án này, 

giáo xứ đã mua thêm ½ lô đất của các Thầy Dòng 

Phanxicô.  Kinh phí xây xong cho bãi đậu xe mới 

này là $75,000.  Hai năm sau, bãi đậu xe sau nhà thờ 

của giáo xứ cũng được tu sửa lại. Từ ngày cha 

Hoàng về nhậm xứ, một số tu sửa trong nhà thờ, nhà 

xứ, và trường học cũng được Ngài thực hiện: sửa và 

thay lại hệ thống điện trong nhà thờ và trường học, 

đánh bóng lại bàn ghế trong nhà thờ, thay tất cả các 

cửa sổ trong nhà xứ, gắn máy lạnh bên nhà nguyện.  

Ngoài ra giáo xứ cũng mua xe truck để ủi tuyết trong 

những tháng mùa đông để bớt đi chi tiêu cho giáo 

xứ. 
 

Ngoài việc tu bổ và sửa sang các cơ sở, cha Hoàng 

cũng quan tâm đến việc phát triển đời sống tâm linh 

cho giáo xứ.  Một trong những ưu tư hàng đầu của 

cha Hoàng là tiếp cận và tạo điều kiện cho giới trẻ 

được cơ hội phục vụ giáo xứ.  Ngay từ những ngày 

đầu, Đoàn Thiếu Nhi Thánh Thể đã được Ngài quan 



tâm đặc biệt nhờ vậy mà Đoàn càng ngày càng phát 

triển.  Từ một Đoàn Thiếu Nhi có khoảng 40 em với 

2 huynh trưởng ngày nào mà giờ đã có gần 150 em 

và có gần 20 huynh trưởng.  Chương trình Giáo Lý 

Việt Ngữ cũng đi vào nề nếp ổn định với số lượng 

và chất lượng.   Các lớp Giáo Lý Việt Ngữ được 

chia theo tuổi và được chia ra từ lớp mầm non tới 

lớp 9 và được tự do sử dụng các phòng học bên 

trường học làm lớp học.  Các hội đoàn được cha xứ 

quan tâm nhiều hơn.  Hội Các Bà Mẹ Công Giáo 

được thành lập vào Chúa Nhật ngày 29 tháng  8, 

2010.  Các lớp giáo lý Tân Tòng và Hôn Nhân được 

mở đều đặc mỗi năm để đáp các nhu cầu cần thiết 

của mọi người. 
 

Bên cạnh đó, cha Hoàng cũmg đối diện với việc sát 

nhập hai cộng đoàn thành một giáo xứ đa văn hoá 

tuy nhiên mỗi cộng đoàn vẫn giữ được sắc thái riêng 

của mình.  Vào các dịp Giáng Sinh và Phục Sinh, 

hai cộng đoàn cùng cộng tác trong các nghi thức 

phục vụ.  Bên cạnh đó các chương trình sinh hoạt 

chung cũng được phát triển mạnh mẽ, đặc biệt nhất 

là chương trình hội chợ của giáo xứ.  Từ một hội 

chợ của giáo xứ với tổng thu nhập khoảng $10,000 

tới một hội chợ mà tổng thu trên $100,000 thì quả là 

một bước nhảy xa và dài.  Tài chánh của giáo xứ 

trong những năm gần đây ổn định và vững vàng hơn 

nhiều so với những năm trước đây.    
 

Từ ngày cha Hoàng nhậm xứ đến nay, Cộng Đoàn 

Việt Nam đã tăng con số giáo dân đáng kể: từ 

khoảng 120 người tham dự Thánh Lễ Chúa Nhật 

vào năm 2007 tới khoảng 600 người vào năm 2014.  

Giáo xứ cũng đã có những bước chuyển mình để 

càng ngày hai cộng đoàn Mỹ và Việt xích lại gần 

nhau hơn trong sinh hoạt và trong tâm tình.   
 

Vào Chúa Nhật thật ấm áp của Ngày 28 tháng 9, 

2014 toàn thể giáo xứ Saint Columba đã mừng kỷ 

niệm 100 năm thành lập.  Ngày mừng kỷ niệm là 

một ngày tuyệt vời và đáng nhớ nhất trong lịch sử 

của giáo xứ khi cả hai sắc tộc: Mỹ và Việt cùng 

mừng chung trong một sự kiện lịch sử của giáo xứ 

Saint Columba.  Hơn 800 người con của giáo xứ đã 

tụ tập bên người Cha Giáo Phận là Đức Tổng Giám 

Mục John Nienstedt, cùng một số các cha cựu chánh 

xứ: cha Leonard Seibenaler, cha Roger Carroll, cha 

Dennis Evenson, cha Paul LaFontaine, và cha cựu 

phó xứ Gregory Skrypek, để dâng Thánh Lễ và dự 

tiệc mừng Tạ Ơn tại khuôn viên thánh đường của 

giáo xứ.  Phần văn nghệ ngoài trời với sự hợp tác 

giữa ban nhạc Việt và ban nhạc người Ái Nhĩ Lan.   
 

100 thành lập giáo xứ đã để lại trong tâm hồn những 

người con giáo xứ một tâm tình hãnh diện cho 

những gì giáo xứ đã làm được; đồng thời cũng 

hướng lòng để bày tỏ lòng biết ơn đến những người 

đã có công xây dựng, bảo tồn, và phát triển giáo xứ.  

Xin Chúa, qua sự chuyển cầu của Mẹ Maria, Thánh 

Giuse, Thánh quan thầy Columba, trả công bội hậu 

cùng ban dồi dào Thiên Ân cho tất cả người con của 

giáo xứ.   Xin cho mọi người con của giáo xứ luôn 

biết gắn bó và chung tay xây dựng để tiếp tục phát 

triển giáo xứ trong những trang sử kế tiếp này.    

 



Thomas F. Kolar 1960-1962 

Alfred J. Skluzacek 1962-1965 

Richard Mahoney 1963-1967 

Paul E. Bussard 1965-1969 

Timothy Kernan 1967-1970 

Richard A Door 1970-1971 

Gregory A. Skrypek 1970-1977 

Vincent P. O’Connor 1971-1972 

Wayne Hornicek 1972-1974 

Leonard F. Siebenaler 1974-1976 

Louis C. Wappler 1977-1979 

Patrick R. Hipwell 1977-1978 

Robert L. Valit 1978-1980 

Theodore Campbell 1980-1983 

Michael L. Papesh  1983-1987 

Terrence M. Holland  1987-1989 

George P. Carroll 1919-1922 

Eustace M. Frederick 1922-1924 

Henry J. Byrne 1924-1929 

Patrick Keaney 1929-1936 

Michael Lawler 1929-1929 

Maurice A. J. Keeler 1934-1934 

James R. Fury 1929-1937 

John B. Garvey 1936-1944 

Robert Wittman 1938-1942 

Harry T. Majerus 1943-1944 

Paul J. Gorman 1944-1945 

Francis M. Hayden 1945-1949 

Michael F. O’Connor 1944-1956 

Bernard C. Klein 1949-1960 

Allen J. McIntyre 1956-1963 

James M. Joyce 1957-1958 

Francis X. Shea, SJ 1958-1859  

Associate Pastors of St. Columba 
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Reverend  
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Reverend  
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Conlin 

2000-2004 
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Thomas 
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Hoang D. 

Nguyen 

2007-Present 

 

 



C 
olumba was 

born in 521 

Gartan, Done-

gal, in the north 

of Ireland.  On his father’s 

side, he was great-great-

grandson of Niall of the 

Nine Hostages, an Irish 

high king of the 5th cen-

tury; while Columba’s 

mother was also de-

scended from a king of 

Leinster and was related to the royalty of Scottish 

Dalriada.  He was baptized in Temple-Douglas, in 

the County Donegal parish of Conwal by his teacher 

and foster-uncle Saint Crunathan. 

He was educated and ordained as deacon at Moville.  

He then studied at Leinster and continued his stud-

ies at Clonard, where he was probably ordained as 

priest.  Columba had a love for literature and some-

time around 560, he became involved in a dispute 

with his mentor, Abbot Finnian, over a manuscript 

Columba copied at the scriptorium.  The dispute 

eventually led to the Battle of Cul Dreimnhe in 561, 

during which many men were killed.  As penance for 

these deaths, Columba suggested that he work as a 

missionary in Scotland to help convert as many peo-

ple as had been killed in the battle. 

He exiled himself from Ireland, and in 563, 

Columba and a dozen companions set out for north-

ern Britain.  Columba was kindly received by Conal, 

King of British Scots, and allowed to preach, con-

vert, and baptize.  On the isle of Iona, Columba 

founded the celebrated monastery which became a 

school for missionaries and the center for the con-

version of the Picts. 

Columba, then, made long journeys through the 

Highlands of Scotland to bring the Gospel to the 

people there.  For thirty years, he evangelized, stud-

ied, wrote, and governed his monastery at Iona. He 

supervised his monks in their work in the fields and 

workrooms, in their daily worship and Sunday 

Eucharist, and their study and teaching. 

Columba died peacefully on June 9, 597, while 

working on a copy of the Psalter.  He had put down 

his pen, rested a few hours, and at Matins was found 

dead before the Altar, a smile on his face.  For many 

years after his passing, Columba’s influence was felt 

in the Celtic lands and abroad. Columba’s mission at 

Iona led to the conversion of Scotland and of the 

north of England.  Columba’s life contributed to Ire-

land becoming one of the monastic hubs of Europe, 

with the culture of Ireland dominated by monaster-

ies and monastic leaders.  His feast day is on June 9. 

 

Thánh Columba sinh vào khoảng năm 521 tại thị 

trấn Alster, phía bắc Ái Nhĩ Lan (Ireland).  Cha Mẹ 

của Ngài thuộc dòng dõi hoàng tộc.  Ngài được rửa 

tội và được theo học tại Moville và cũng tại nơi đây 

Ngài được thụ phong Phó Tế.   Sau đó Ngài theo học 

tại Leinster và được gởi tới Clonard học tiếp và có lẽ 

Ngài đã được thụ phong linh mục nơi đây. 

Năm 543, Ngài tới Ulster and sống tại đây khoảng 15 

năm để truyền giáo và thành lập nhiều cộng đoàn tu 

hội rải rác cả nước Ái Nhĩ Lan 

Năm 563, cùng với 12 người than, Ngài đến Iona, 

một bán đảo nằm bên bờ biển của nước Scotland.  

Nơi đây Ngài thành lập một nhà dòng lớn nhất vùng 

Christendom.  Ngài dành nhiều thời gian để truyền 

giáo cho người dân Scotland. Ngài đã rửa tội cho vua 

Brude vùng Inverness và đã truyền giáo cho cả vùng 

Pictland.  Năm 575, Ngài tham dự công nghị ở Ire-

land và đã thuyết phục thành công cho phụ nữ khỏi 

phải tham gia quân đội.  Tại Iona trong thời gian, 

danh tiếng đạo đức, đời sống khắc khổ, và các phép 

lạ của Ngài đã lôi kéo nhiều người tới với dòng của 

Ngài.   Ngài mất vào ngày 9 tháng 6 năm 597. 

Cuộc đời của Ngài đã bao quát phần lớn tại Âu Châu.  

Các luật dòng do Ngài soạn thảo cũng đã được nhiều 

người đón nhận và đi theo.  Lối sống thực tiễn của 

Ngài đã có sức ảnh hưởng đến đời sống của nhiều 

nước, nhất là các nước Ireland, Scotland, Northum-

bria.  Vì lối sống thánh thiện của Ngài mà Giáo Hội 

đã phong Ngài là Thánh và lễ kính Ngài được mừng 

hằng năm vào ngày 9 tháng 6. 

Taken From:  Dictionary of Saints and Encyclope-

dia 

Saint Columba, Our Patron Saint 
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A Note From the Editor: 
 
It was a great responsibility to undertake the retelling 
of  St. Columba’s history.  It was a task that I took 
very seriously.  I wanted to do justice in telling the story 
that happened long before my years at St. Columba.  I 
relied heavily on the work, previous writings and bulle-
tins of  Fr. Casey and the pastors that followed him. I 
hope that I have conveyed the same sense of  pride that 
they shared when writing of  our beloved parish. 
 
It was not possible to re-tell every story and recall every 
event spanning one hundred years. Those stories are 
yours to retell and share among your family and 
friends. Often times, these stories get better with age 
and your own embellishment.  
 
Lastly, thank you for your patience as this project took 
longer to accomplish than Fr. Hoang and I had ever 
dreamed it would. It is my sincerest hope that you enjoy 
the book and learn some new information that you 
might not have known about our early years and how 
we arrived at where we are today.  
 
Respectfully Submitted, 

Cindy Smetana, 
Parish Office Manger 

2005 to present 
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